COURSE 1

# ADIABATIC QUANTUM TRANSPORT

Joseph E. AVRON

Department of Physics, Technion, Haifa, 32000, Israel

Les Houches, 1994 © J. Avron, 1995

Place for picture

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

# Contents

Ove	erview	5
1.	Manifolds and their Calculus	6
	1.1. Manifolds	6
	1.2. Forms	8
	1.3. The Exterior derivative	9
	1.4. Riemanian Metric	9
	1.5. Scalar products	9
	1.6. Hodge *	9
	1.7. Cohomology	10
	1.8. Harmonic forms	11
	1.9. Integration	11
2.	1.10. Homology	11
	1.11. Periods	12
	Aharonov-Bohm Fluxes	12
	2.1. Summary	12
	2.2. Fluxes	12
	2.3. Gauge Fixing	14
	2.4. Harmonic gauge	15
	2.5. Singular Gauge	15
	2.6. Pure Gauge Fields	16
	2.7. The Flux Torus	16
	2.8. A Riemann Metric	16
3.	Magnetic Fields	17
	3.1. Dirac Quantization	18
4.	Schrödinger Operators on Graphs	18
	4.1. Summary	18
	4.2. The Kinetic Energy	19
	4.3. Spectral Analysis	20
5.	Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds	21
	5.1. Summary	21
	5.2. Landau Hamiltonians	22
	5.3. Periodic Boundary Conditions	22
	5.4. Magnetic Translation	23
	5.5. Automorphic Factors	23
6.	Spectral Properties of Landau Hamiltonians	24
	6.1. Summary	24
	6.2. The Flat Torus	24
	6.3. Riemann surfaces	25
	6.4. Index and Heat Kernel	26

7 Currents	26
7.1. Summary	26
7.2. Classical	27
7.3. Loop Currents	28
7.4. The Current Operator	28
8. Adiabatic Theorems	29
8.1. Summary	29
8.2. Hilbert Space Projections	29
8.3. The Adiabatic Setting	29
8.4. Adiabatic Evolution	30
8.5. Comparison of Dynamics	31
9. The Adiabatic Curvature	31
9.1. Parallel Transport and Riemanian Geometry	31
9.2. The Canonical Connection	32
9.3. Curvature	33
9.4. Projections of Arbitrary Rank	34
9.5. Miscellaneous Formulas for the Curvature	34
9.6. General Properties of the Curvature	35
10. Constant Curvature	36
10.1. Summary	36
10.2. Curvature and Quantum Numbers	36
10.3. Phase Space Translations	37
10.4. Landau Hamiltonians on Tori	37
10.5. Curvature and Gauge Transformations	38
10.6. Area of Triangles	38
10.7. Curvature for Landau Levels	39
11. Conductances	39
11.1. Summary	39
11.2. Setting	40
11.3. Charge Transport and Adiabatic Curvature	41
11.4. Covariance	43
12. Chern Numbers	43
12.1. Summary	43
12.2. Chern Number of a Complex Line Bundle on $S^2$ :	43
12.3. Chern numbers for the Flux Torus	45
12.4. Diophantine Equations	45
12.1 Summer and	40
13.1. Summary	40
13.2. Landau Levels	40
12.4. Compart operators	41
13.5 Index	40
13.6 Projection Related by Unitaries	40
13.7 Homogeneous Systems	49
References	52
	04



Fig. 0.1 : A Pretzel with 2 handles

#### Overview

Non-dissipative relatives of the ordinary (dissipative) conductance, which appears in the classical Ohm's law,

 $Current = Conductance \times Voltage,$ 

have geometric significance. The Hall conductance, [47, 51], is an example. Much of what I shall say will be devoted to giving precise sense to [49, 50, ???]

Conductance = Adiabatic Curvature.

For open systems, the transport of charge is related also to comparing dimensions of Hilbert spaces, [10, 14], leading to a second geometric relation: Conductance = Dimension.

In the classical theory of surfaces, the Gaussian curvature of the surface M is related to a topological invariant, the Euler characteristic  $\chi(M)$ :

$$\int_{M} Curvature = 2\pi\chi(M) = 4\pi (1-h).$$

h is the number of handles (the sphere has no handles). An analog, relates the transport coefficients with topological invariants, known as Chern numbers [20]. Points where energy level cross play a role analogous to handles.

From a mathematical point of view what characterizes the approach presented here is the study of geometric objects associated with *families* of Schrödinger operators whose parameters are *Aharonov-Bohm fluxes*. From a physical point of view this is a study of transport and its relation to the sensitivity of quantum systems, as measured by Berry's phase, [16], to variation in Aharonov-Bohm fluxes.

The first ten chapters set the stage and provide background material about geometry, gauge fields and quantum mechanics. The last three chapters describe the applications to transport.



Fig. 1.1: A horn in Euclidean three space has negative Gaussian curvature

### 1. Manifolds and their Calculus

#### 1.1. Manifolds

The Aharonov-Bohm effect tells us that interesting quantum phenomena occur in multiply connected systems. A class of model surfaces we shall consider are Riemanian manifolds. Riemanian says that the manifold M comes with a metric  $g_M$ . Compact manifolds model *closed* quantum systems and noncompact manifolds model *open* quantum systems. On a compact manifold transport is associated with "currents going around holes" and so forces us to mind multiply connected systems. On a non-compact manifold charges can also be lost to infinity.

The examples listed below describe various models of two dimensional surfaces. Some of these serve as conventional models for two dimensional electron gases, some are more esoteric.

a. The Poincaré-Lobachevski upper half plane [11, ???]:  $H = \{z | \text{Im } z > 0\}$ , has metric  $(ds)^2 = \frac{dx^2 + dy^2}{y^2}$ . Geodesics are semi-circles, whose centers lie on the x-axis. The Gaussian curvature equals -1, and fixes a length scale. H looks, locally, like a horn in 3-space, Fig. 1.1, where every point is a saddle. Like the plane and the sphere, it is a symmetric space where every point looks like every other point. Part of the interest in this model comes from its relation to chaotic dynamics, in particular the geodesic flow has exponentially diverging trajectories [11, 34]. Möbius transformations,

$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}, \quad z' = \gamma(z) = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}, \quad \det \gamma = 1; \quad a, b, c, d \in \mathbf{R},$$



Fig. 1.2: The 2-handle torus of Fig. 0.1 represented as an octagon with pairs of edges identified.

play a role analogous to the Euclidean motions of the Euclidean plane. They take geodesics to geodesics, and the upper half plane to itself. Two useful formulae are:

$$dz' = \frac{dz}{(cz+d)^2}, \quad y' = \frac{y}{|cz+d|^2}.$$
 (1.1)

b. Multi-handle tori: Riemann surfaces, (with two handles or more), can be represented by polygons in the Poincaré plane with edges identified [27, 33], see Fig. 1.2.



Fig. 1.3: A punctured torus with a long boundary

c. Punctured Tori: Punctured tori, such as the one shown in Fig. 1.3, have the topology one normally associates with an idealized quantum Hall effect [44], shown schematically in Fig. 1.4. When an emf drives the system in one loop, a Hall current flows in the other loop.



Fig. 1.4: A configuration associated with the Hall effect

d. Graphs: Graphs represent quantum wires, tight binding models, and arrays of Josephson junctions [1, 4, 7, 30].



Fig. 1.5: Graphs, compact and non compact

The rest of this chapter is an introduction to the calculus of forms, homology and cohomology [3, 25, 28].

### 1.2. Forms

Let  $x \in M$ , with local coordinates  $(x^1, \ldots, x^m)$ ,  $m = \dim M$ . 0-form are functions; 1-form are, locally,

$$\omega^1(x) = \sum_{j=1}^m \omega_j(x) \, \mathrm{d} x^j$$

and 2-form are given, locally, by

$$\omega^2(x) = \sum_{j < k}^n \omega_{jk}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x^j \wedge \mathrm{d}x^k, \quad \mathrm{d}x^j \wedge \mathrm{d}x^k = -\mathrm{d}x^k \wedge \mathrm{d}x^j.$$

For example, vector potentials (=gauge fields)  $\boldsymbol{A}$  are 1-forms. Magnetic fields are 2-forms.

Forms can be added and multiplied:

$$\omega^k \wedge \omega^j = (-)^{jk} \omega^j \wedge \omega^k.$$

### 1.3. The Exterior derivative

The exterior derivative is a linear map from k-forms to (k+1)-forms:

$$\mathrm{d}\omega^k = \mathrm{d}\left(\sum \omega_J^k \,\mathrm{d}x^J\right) = \sum_{J,j} \left(\partial_j \omega_J^k\right) \,\mathrm{d}x^j \wedge \mathrm{d}x^J.$$

 ${\cal J}$  is a multi-index.

Poincaré's lemma:

 $d^2 = 0.$ 

Proof:

$$d^{2} = (\partial_{j} dx^{j}) \wedge (\partial_{k} dx^{k}) = (\partial_{jk}) dx^{j} \wedge dx^{k} = 0.$$

In three space d is grad, curl and div when it operates on 0, 1, 2 forms. Hence curl grad = div curl = 0, are versions of Poincaré's lemma.

### 1.4. Riemanian Metric

The metric  $(ds)^2 = \sum g_{jk} dx^j \otimes dx^k$ , gives a volume form:

d Vol = 
$$\sqrt{g} dx^1 \wedge \dots dx^m$$
;  $g = \det\{g_{jk}\} > 0.$ 

The metric of an m-dimensional manifold is conformal if  $g_{jk}(x)=\sqrt[m]{g}\delta_{jk}$  .

### 1.5. Scalar products

The scalar product of p-forms is given by:

$$\mathrm{d} x^j \cdot \mathrm{d} x^k = g^{jk}, \quad \left(\mathrm{d} x^1 \wedge \dots \mathrm{d} x^p\right) \cdot \left(\mathrm{d} y^1 \wedge \dots \mathrm{d} y^p\right) = \det \left(\mathrm{d} x^j \cdot \mathrm{d} y^k\right).$$

### 1.6. Hodge \*

Hodge \* is a linear operator on forms, so that for an m-dimensional manifold

\*: 
$$k - forms \longrightarrow (m-k) forms$$
,  
 $\omega^k \wedge \omega^{m-k} = (*\omega^k \cdot \omega^{m-k}) d Vol.$ 



Fig. 1.6: The sphere and its hemispheres

For example, a two dimensional surface with a conformal metric has

### 1.7. Cohomology

 $\omega^k$  is *closed* if  $d\omega^k = 0$  and is *exact* if  $\omega^k = df$ . Every exact form is closed. A closed form is exact only locally, in a disc like domain. Sensible people study electrostatics in Euclidean three space, where the assertion that *curl* E = 0 implies E = grad V is indeed valid. In spaces with complicated topology it is not.

Example: The Maxwell equation  $d\mathbf{B} = 0$ ,  $(div \ \vec{B} = 0)$ , makes sense on any manifold (and is automatic if the manifold is two dimensional). On  $R^3$ it implies B = dA, (B = div A), but in Euclidean space with the origin removed, A is only locally defined (e.g. on hemispheres). When a monopole sits at the origin, a Dirac string of singularities prevents defining the vector potential globally.

Cohomology groups are defined by:

$$H^{k}(M) = \{ closed \ k - forms \} / \{ exact \ k - forms \}.$$

The quotient means that f and g are identified if f - g is exact. The closed/exact forms often live in infinite dimensional function space. The cohomology, in contrast, is finite dimensional.

For example the circle has no exact zero forms, and the closed 0-forms are constant. This makes  $H^0(S^1) \simeq \mathbf{R}$ . All 1-forms  $f(\theta)d\theta$  are automatically closed. The exact ones  $(d g)(\theta)$ , have zero averages. Thus  $H^1(S^1) \simeq \mathbf{R}$ .

### 1.8. Harmonic forms

*a* is harmonic if it is closed and co-closed:

$$\mathrm{d}a = *\mathrm{d} * a = 0.$$

For example, on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , (with conformal metric) if f is holomorphic then a = df is harmonic by Eq. (1.1). On  $T^2$  periodicity selects a two dimensional subspace:

$$a_1 = \alpha \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta \, \mathrm{d}y, \quad \alpha, \, \beta \, \in \mathbf{R}.$$

It is a basic result of Hodge theory that for closed Riemann surfaces any closed form  $\omega$  can be uniquely decomposed into a harmonic and exact parts:  $\omega = h + d\chi$ .

### 1.9. Integration

k-forms can be integrated on k-chains:

$$\int_{c_k} w^k.$$

k-chains are k-dimensional submanifolds: A point is a 0 chain; A line a 1-chain; A surface is a 2-chain, etc. The pairing between chains and forms to give a real number make the space of chains and forms dual to to each other.

Stokes Theorem

$$\int_c \mathrm{d} \, \omega^{k-1} = \int_{\mathfrak{d}c} w^{k-1}.$$

 $\partial c$  is the oriented boundary of c.

#### 1.10. Homology

c is closed if  $\partial c = 0$ , and exact if  $c = \partial \tilde{c}$ . Poincaré's lemma

$$\partial^2 = 0.$$

This is known as "the boundary of the boundary is zero".

The Homology groups are defined by:

$$H_k(M) = \{ closed \ k - chains \} / \{ exact \ k - chains \}.$$

The quotient means that one identify c with c' if  $c - c' = \partial C$ .



Fig. 1.7: c and c' are closed and homologous 1-chains on the torus c - c' is the boundary of the hatched area.

For example the homology groups of the two torus are:

$$H_0(T^2) \simeq H_2(T^2) \simeq \mathbf{R}, \quad H_1(T^2) \simeq \mathbf{R} \oplus \mathbf{R}.$$

### 1.11. Periods

The pairing of closed k-forms with closed k-chains provides a way to normalize the basis for the cohomology group, e.g. by setting the basic periods to be 0 and 1.

### 2. Aharonov-Bohm Fluxes

### 2.1. Summary

When Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields act on a system which has several holes the Aharonov-Bohm fluxes make a vector  $\phi = (\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_n)$ . There are some elementary questions one has to mind when considering the vector space of fluxes. For example, does it have a distinguished origin? A distinguished basis? and a distinguished metric? The answer is no, in general, for the first two questions and yes for the second. We shall chose the metric so that when the flux is time dependent the length squared of  $\dot{\phi}$  is related to the electromagnetic energy.

### 2.2. Fluxes

Imagine a quantum system threaded by coils that run through the holes. The coils carry currents that can be controlled independently and give rise



Fig. 2.1: Torus embedded in three space with a current carrying coil threading the hole

to Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields which are closed 1-form A. Since dA = 0 there is no magnetic field associated to A on the surface.

Let  $\{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$ ,  $n = \dim H_1(M)$  be a basis for the first homology. There is no unique way to choose it (one can always reverse the orientation of cycles, and take linear combinations). So we pick a choice and stick with it, such as e.g. Fig. 2.2. The corresponding periods of a gauge potential  $\boldsymbol{A}$  give the flux vector  $\boldsymbol{\phi} = (\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_n), \ \phi_j = \int_{c_j} \boldsymbol{A}$ . Since  $\boldsymbol{A}$  is closed, deformations of the cycles do not affect  $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ .



Fig. 2.2: A torus with two choices of bases for the first homology Examples:

a. The unit circle, traversed counterclockwise generates the first homology of the punctured plane  $R^2/\{0\}$  . Any closed 1-form can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{A} = \frac{\phi}{2\pi} i e^{i\theta} \left( de^{-i\theta} \right) + d\chi, \quad \phi \in \boldsymbol{R}.$$

 $\theta$  the polar angle. Clearly  $d\mathbf{A} = 0$  on  $\mathbf{R}^2/\{0\}$ , and

$$\int_{c} \boldsymbol{A} = \begin{cases} \phi, & c \text{ encircles origin;} \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

#### 2.3. Gauge Fixing

Consider a fixed set of n coils. The n-vector of currents through the coils, I, is associated with a (linear) map to the space of Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields:

$$I \longrightarrow \sum \phi^j a_j, \quad \phi = (\phi^1, \dots, \phi^n) \in \mathbf{R}^n.$$

 $\phi$  is linear in *I* and the  $a_j$  are *I* independent. We may think of the  $a_j$  as being associated with the given set of coils. Fig. 2.3 shows schematically what is meant by identical systems with different coils.



Fig. 2.3: Identical coils, which carry time independent currents, placed in different positions inside the holes of identical systems.

Choosing a basis for the first cohomology means that any closed 1-form has a unique decomposition

$$\sum \phi^j a_j + \mathrm{d}\chi, \quad \phi \in \mathbf{R}^n, \quad \int_{c_j} a_k = \delta_{jk}.$$

 $c_j$  and  $a_j$  are the basis elements for the first homology and cohomology respectively. (In this decomposition  $\chi$  may be  $\phi$  dependent.)

The periods (fluxes) of a 1-form (Aharonov-Bohm gauge field) determines A up to an exact 1-form. Fixing a gauge, e.g. by setting  $\chi = 0$  above, removes this freedom. Choosing a fixed set of coils, does the same thing. Hence, choosing a basis for the cohomology and fixing a gauge are all related notions.



Fig. 2.4: A switching function.

### 2.4. Harmonic gauge

The Harmonic forms provide a basis of the first cohomology of a closed Riemann surface. We normalize the basis so that the harmonic forms have periods which are either 0 or 1.

Examples:

Let  $T^2$  be the square  $[0, 2\pi] \times [0, 2\pi]$  with constant metric. Let  $(c_1, c_2)$  and  $(\underline{c}_1, \underline{c}_2)$  be two choices of a bases for the first homology groups, shown in Fig. 2.2. The corresponding normalized, harmonic gauge fields are

$$a_1 = \mathrm{d}x, \ a_2 = \mathrm{d}y, \ \underline{a}_1 = \mathrm{d}x - \mathrm{d}y, \ \underline{a}_2 = \mathrm{d}y.$$

On  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , harmonicity and normalization are in conflict.  $a_1 = dx$ ,  $a_2 = dy$  are harmonic but not normalizable. A convenient choice of Aharonov-Bohm gauge field that we shall use is as follows: take any monotonic function of one coordinate  $\chi$  so that  $\chi(\infty) - \chi(-\infty) = 1$ , as in Fig. 2.4. We shall call this a switching function.

$$a_1(x,y) = \chi'(x) \,\mathrm{d}x, \quad a_2(x,y) = \chi'(y) \,\mathrm{d}y,$$

are closed and normalized. If  $\phi$  it time dependent then  $\dot{\phi}^1 a_1 + \dot{\phi}^2 a_2$  describes a gauge field that corresponds to a voltage drop  $\dot{\phi}^1$  between  $-\infty$  and  $+\infty$  along the x axis.

### 2.5. Singular Gauge

Let  $c_j$  be a base for  $H_{n-1}(M)$ . Set

$$a_j = \delta_{c_j}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x_t,$$

with  $dx_t$  "transversal" to  $c_j$  and  $\delta_c(x)$  a surface delta function. For example, in the Euclidean plane:

$$a_1(x) = \delta(x) dx, \quad a_2(x) = \delta(y) dy.$$

#### 2.6. Pure Gauge Fields

A pure gauge field associated with time independent (smooth) gauge transformations U is given by  $\mathbf{A} = i (dU) U^{\dagger}$ . Pure gauge fields are closed:

$$d\boldsymbol{A} = -i(dU) (dU^{\dagger}) = i (dU) U^{\dagger} (dU) U^{\dagger} = i \boldsymbol{A} \wedge \boldsymbol{A} = 0.$$

For example, on  $\mathbb{R}^2/\{0\}$ ,  $U(z) = \exp i \phi \theta$ , with  $\phi \in \mathbb{Z}$  give  $\mathbb{A} = -\phi d\theta$ . We see from this example that the set of *pure gauge fields make a lattice*.

#### 2.7. The Flux Torus

The flux torus,  $\Phi$ , is the space of Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields with an equivalence relations:

$$\Phi \simeq \{closed \ 1 - forms\} / \{pure \ gauge \ fields\}.$$

For example, a Riemann surface with h holes has  $\Phi\simeq T^{2h}.$ 

Once a gauge and normalization have been fixed any Aharonov-Bohm gauge field (a point in  $\Phi$ ) can be uniquely represented as

$$\boldsymbol{A} = \sum \phi^j \, a_j + pure, \quad 0 \leqslant \phi^j < 1.$$

#### 2.8. A Riemann Metric

With time dependent fluxes,  $\dot{\phi}$  represents a vector of emf's. The question we want to address here is the notion of length for such vectors. One such choice is to make the length square of vectors  $\dot{\phi}$  proportional to the electromagnetic energy which comes from electric field density,  $\int d Vol \ E \cdot E = \int d Vol \ \dot{A} \cdot \dot{A}$ . (There is no magnetic field energy density for Aharonov-Bohm fields on M.) This motivates choosing for the Riemann metric,  $g_{\Phi}$ , on flux space

$$(g_{\Phi})_{jk} = \int_M a_j \wedge (*a_k) = \int_M (a_j \cdot a_k) \, \mathrm{d} \, Vol.$$



Fig. 2.5: A torus with a skew angle

 $g_{\Phi}$  depends on the metric of M, on the basis for the homology groups, and on the choice of gauge for the Aharonov-Bohm fluxes.

For example, consider the unit torus,  $R^2/Z^2$ , with metric

$$g_M = egin{pmatrix} a^2 & ab\,\cos heta\ ab\,\cos heta & b^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad a,b, heta\in oldsymbol{R}.$$

This torus is equivalent to the skewed torus with lengths a and b with Euclidean metric shown in the Fig. 2.5.

Choosing the obvious cycles, we have  $a_1 = dx$ ,  $a_2 = dy$ , harmonic and normalized.

$$g_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{\sin \theta} \begin{pmatrix} b/a & -\cos \theta \\ -\cos \theta & a/b \end{pmatrix}, \quad \det g_{\Phi} = 1.$$

The tori in coordinate and flux space are related as the unit cell of a crystal is related to its Brillouin zone. The duality between the Bloch momenta, and the fluxes, reappears in various other places in this theory.

### 3. Magnetic Fields

Magnetic fields,  $\boldsymbol{B}$ , are closed 2-forms. If M is two dimensional, then any 2-form is closed. Constant magnetic fields in two dimensions are proportional to the area form. For example constant magnetic fields on the Euclidean and Poincaré plane are:

$$\boldsymbol{B} = \begin{cases} B \, \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y & \text{Euclidean;} \\ (B/y^2) \, \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y & \text{Poincaré.} \end{cases}$$

On a curved surface there is, in general, no constant vector field. You can't comb the airs of a peach, see Fig. 3.1. It follows that, unlike the situation



Fig. 3.1: You can't comb the hairs of a peach.

for magnetic fields, there is no natural notion of constant electric field on a curved surface.

### 3.1. Dirac Quantization

On a closed two dimensional manifold

$$\int_M \boldsymbol{B} = 2\pi \text{ Integer.}$$

If M is embedded in  $E^3$  this says that only magnetic monopoles with quantized magnetic charges may be placed inside M. On punctured surfaces, such as the one in Fig. 1.4, the magnetic flux can be varied continuously at the expense of the fluxes in the punctures.

In Gaussian units the magnetic monopole g and electric monopoles e have the same dimension:  $g = e/\alpha$ , where  $\alpha = e^2/\hbar c$ . Dirac says that 2g is integral multiple of the quantum flux unit.

The area of a smooth compact h-handled surface with Gaussian curvature -1, is  $4\pi (h-1)$ ,  $h \ge 2$ . Dirac quantization conditions says that *constant* magnetic fields are certain fractions:  $2B(h-1) \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

### 4. Schrödinger Operators on Graphs

### 4.1. Summary

Here we describe the quantum mechanical kinetic energy operator on spaces that looks like graphs. Graphs represent an idealized version of two dimen-

Adiabatic Transport



Fig. 4.1: A graph with three vertices and six edges

sional systems of small area whose linear dimensions are large. Since magnetic fields set a length scale the notion of small area corresponds to the weak magnetic field limit for system of finite area.

Schrödinger operators on graphs provide a class of models which can be explicitly and completely analyzed and for which one can get detailed and explicit information about spectral and transport properties [7, 8]. One role they play in the in the logical structure of the theory of adiabatic transport (described in section 11) is to provide examples for which the general theory can be applied, and for which one can verify that the theory leads to non-trivial transport properties.

#### 4.2. The Kinetic Energy

On the edges (links) the kinetic energy is the differential operator:

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(-\mathrm{i}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}-A(x)\right)^2.$$

At each vertex, v, we impose boundary conditions that guarantee Kirchoff law. Let  $\ell$  label the edges that are incident on v. (We denote this by  $\partial \ell \ni v$ .) Then the boundary conditions are:

$$\psi_{\ell}(v) = \psi(v), \quad \forall \, \ell$$
  
 $\sum_{\partial \ell \ni v} \Big( \partial - iA(x) \Big) \psi_{\ell}(x) \Big|_{v} = \lambda \psi(v), \quad \lambda \in \mathbf{R}.$ 

Kirchoff follows from

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{d}\ell\ni v} j_{\ell}(v) = \sum_{\mathfrak{d}\ell\ni v} \operatorname{Im} \, \bar{\psi}(\mathfrak{d} - iA)\psi = \sum_{\mathfrak{d}\ell\ni v} \operatorname{Im} \, \lambda |\psi(v)|^2 = 0.$$





Fig. 4.2: Vertex with incident oriented edges

 $\lambda = 0$  corresponds to Neumann,  $\lambda = \infty$  to Dirichlet. Finite  $\lambda$  introduces a length scale. Dirichlet disconnects the graph. Neumann is the boundary condition we shall choose in the illustrations below.

### 4.3. Spectral Analysis

Spectral question on graphs reduce to questions about finite matrices. We focus on compact graphs. Non-compact graphs, like the one in Fig. 1.5 lead to a scattering problem that we shall not study here see e.g. [8, 26, 31].

Fix an energy E > 0,  $k = \sqrt{2E} > 0$ . For a given edge  $\ell$ , let

$$\phi(\ell) = \int_{\ell} A.$$

The vector  $\Psi = (\psi_1, \dots, \psi_n)$  gives the values of the eigenfunction at the vertices of the graph. Define a matrix  $h(\phi, k)$  whose entries are

$$h_{uv}(\phi, k) = \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{\partial \ell = (u, v)}} \frac{\exp -i\phi(\ell)}{\sin k\ell}, & u \neq v; \\ -\sum_{\substack{\partial \ell \ni u}} \cot(k\ell), & u = v. \end{cases}$$

Here u, v denote vertices in the graph.

For example, suppose all edges for Fig. 4.1 have length  $\ell = 1$ . Let the six complex numbers of modulus one, x, X, y, Y, z and Z correspond to  $\exp i\phi(\ell)$  for the six edges. The matrix h is given by

$$h = \frac{1}{\sin k} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & Z+z & \bar{Y}+\bar{y} \\ \bar{Z}+\bar{z} & \alpha & \bar{X}+\bar{x} \\ Y+y & X+x & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha = -4 \cos k.$$

In this example the information on the Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields is in the six complex numbers of modulus 1, x, X, y, Y, z and Z. The fluxes carried by the four flux tubes threading the holes are determined by

$$xX = \exp i \phi_1, \quad yY = \exp i \phi_2, \quad zZ = \exp i \phi_3, \quad XYZ = \exp i \phi_4.$$

The four fluxes do not determine x, X, y, Y, z, Z uniquely: There is a two dimensional space of gauge transformations given by diagonal unitaries with determinant one.

The spectral properties follow from:

1. The vector of amplitudes at the vertices,  $\Psi$ , and k (provided sin  $k\ell \neq 0$ ), determines the eigenfunction at every point of the graph. For  $x \in \ell$  the wave function is determined in terms of its values at the vertices  $\{u, v\} = \partial \ell$ 

$$\psi(x) = \frac{\exp i \int^x \mathbf{A}}{\sin k\ell} \Big( \psi(v) \exp \big( -i\phi(\ell) \big) \sin kx + \psi(u) \sin k(\ell - x) \Big).$$

2. The eigenvalue equation is

$$\det h(k,\phi) = 0.$$

It gives energy bands on the flux torus. The corresponding eigenvectors  $\Psi$  lie in the kernel of  $h(k, \phi)$ .

3. The Hilbert space metric induces a (non-trivial) metric i.e.

$$||\Psi||^2 = \sum \bar{\psi}_u g_{uv}(k,\phi)\psi_v.$$

#### 5. Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds

#### 5.1. Summary

This chapter describes the kinetic energy operator for *non relativistic, spinless* quantum particles on (curved) manifolds in the presence of magnetic and Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields. The notion of *periodic boundary conditions* turns out to be subtle when gauge fields are present.

We describe the quantum kinetic energy operator of a single charged particle. The generalization that gives the Hamiltonian describing many interacting particles on curved manifolds is soft and easy (using the additivity of the kinetic energy). The spectral analysis of the two kinds of operators is a different ball game, of course. For the kinetic energy of a single particle (with homogeneous magnetic fields) one has, as we shall see in section 6, explicit spectral information on the low lying eigenvalues. There is no comparable information for interacting electrons.

J.E. Avron



Fig. 5.1: Overlapping patches

#### 5.2. Landau Hamiltonians

On a manifold with gauge fields define the velocity operator by the 1-form

$$\boldsymbol{v} = -\mathrm{id} - \boldsymbol{A}.\tag{5.1}$$

If we think of the wave function  $|\psi\rangle$  as a function (0-form), then  $|v\psi\rangle$  is a 1-form. The expectation value of (twice) the kinetic energy associated to the state is:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{v}\psi|\boldsymbol{v}\phi\rangle = \int \mathrm{d}\,Vol\,\,\overline{\boldsymbol{v}\psi}(x)\cdot\boldsymbol{v}\phi(x) = \int \overline{\ast\boldsymbol{v}\psi}(x)\wedge\boldsymbol{v}\phi(x).$$

 $(\bar{\cdot} \text{ denotes complex conjugation.})$  The kinetic energy operator now follows by integrating by parts, which we write formally as:

$$H = \frac{1}{2} (*\boldsymbol{v})\boldsymbol{v}. \tag{5.2}$$

This is the generalization of (-half) the Laplacian  $-\Delta = (*d*)d$ . We call the kinetic energy operator for constant *B Landau Hamiltonian*.

For example, on a two dimensional manifold with conformal metric the Landau Hamiltonian is

$$H = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{g}} \left( \left( -\mathrm{i}\partial_x - A_x \right)^2 + \left( -\mathrm{i}\partial_y - A_y \right)^2 \right), \quad \mathbf{A} = A_x \mathrm{d}x + A_y \mathrm{d}y.$$

### 5.3. Periodic Boundary Conditions

Wave functions and gauge fields on overlapping patches are related by gauge transformations:

$$A_+ - A_- = \mathrm{d}\chi, \quad \psi_+ = \left(\exp \mathrm{i}\chi\right)\psi_-.$$

Example: Consider the torus in configuration space shown in Fig. 2.5. In the symmetric gauge  $\mathbf{A} = (B/2) (xdy - ydx)$ , comparing the gauge potentials on the left/right and up/down boundaries of the polygon gives:

$$A_L - A_R = (Ba/2) \, dy \Longrightarrow \chi_{LR} = (Ba/2) \, y + \phi_1,$$
  
$$A_U - A_D = -(Bb/2) \, dx \Longrightarrow \chi_{UD} = -(Bb/2) \, x + \phi_2.$$

It follows that the periodic boundary conditions are:

$$\psi(a,y) = \left(\exp i\phi_1 \exp (iBay/2)\right) \psi(0,y);$$
  
$$\psi(x,b) = \left(\exp i\phi_2 \exp (-iBbx/2)\right) \psi(x,0).$$

### 5.4. Magnetic Translation

The magnetic translations on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , [ ???], in the symmetric gauge, are defined by:

$$(\boldsymbol{U}_a\psi)(x) = \left(\exp \mathrm{i}(B \times a \cdot x/2)\right)\psi(x-a), \quad x, a \in \boldsymbol{R}^2.$$

The operators satisfy a Weyl-Heisenberg algebra  $U_a U_b = e^{i B \cdot a \times b} U_b U_a$ , and are generated by:

$$\mathbf{i}\left(\boldsymbol{d}_{a}\boldsymbol{U}_{a}
ight)\boldsymbol{U}_{a}^{\dagger}=-\mathbf{id}+\boldsymbol{A}.$$

#### 5.5. Automorphic Factors

In the Poincaré upper half plane fix the gauge

$$\boldsymbol{A} = B \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y}.$$

Let  $\gamma$  be the Möbius transformation that relates the two edges of the polygon such as the octagon in Fig. 1.2. The boundary conditions are determined using Eqs. (1.1)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x'}{y'} - \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y} = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}z'}{y'} - \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{y}\right) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{-2\mathrm{i}c\,dz}{cz+d}\right) = 2 \operatorname{Im} \mathrm{d}\ln\left(cz+d\right).$$

The gauge transformation that matches wave functions is

$$\chi(\gamma) = -\mathrm{i}B \,\ln\frac{cz+d}{c\bar{z}+d} + \phi(\gamma).$$

Hence, the periodic boundary conditions are [35]

$$\psi(z') = e^{i \chi(\gamma)} \psi(z) = e^{i \phi(\gamma)} \left(\frac{cz+d}{c\overline{z}+d}\right)^B \psi(z).$$

### 6. Spectral Properties of Landau Hamiltonians

#### 6.1. Summary

There is detailed spectral information about the ground state of Landau Hamiltonians, for a large class of surfaces. This is a consequence of certain index theorems. This chapter is an introduction to this. For more on this see e.g. [19, 35]. Quantum scattering on non-compact Riemann surfaces is also a highly developed subject, but we shall not discuss it at all see e.g. [2, 21, 35, 46].

The theory of adiabatic transport that we aim at is general and is certainly independent of whether the models are explicitly soluble or not. The role played by soluble models, is twofold: First, the theory makes certain assumptions, and it is useful to have a class of models where these assumptions can be verified. This makes the theory non-empty. Second, the models serve to guarantee that the theory is non-trivial: Soluble models show that non-zero non-dissipative transport coefficients arise.

### 6.2. The Flat Torus

For the flat torus:

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leqslant 2H = (-\mathrm{i} \vartheta_x + By/2)^2 + (-\mathrm{i} \vartheta_y - Bx/2)^2 = D^{\dagger}D - B;\\ D &= 2\vartheta - B\bar{z}/2, \ D^{\dagger} = -2\bar{\vartheta} - Bz/2. \end{split}$$

Let Spec(H) denote the spectrum of H. Since B is constant

$$Spec(2H) = Spec(D^{\dagger}D) - B = Spec(DD^{\dagger}) + B.$$

Positivity of the kinetic energy gives Ker D = 0, if B > 0. (Ker D is the vector space which is annihilated by D.) The Index theorem says:

$$\dim \operatorname{Ker} D^{\dagger} - \dim \operatorname{Ker} D = \frac{BArea}{2\pi}.$$
(6.1)

(In the section 6.3 we shall describe where this comes from.) It follows that the ground state energy is B/2 and its degeneracy is

$$\dim \operatorname{Ker} D^{\dagger} = \frac{BArea}{2\pi}.$$
(6.2)

The method gives no information for zero magnetic fields.

### 6.3. Riemann surfaces

Let  $D(B) = 2\partial - iB/y$ ,  $D^{\dagger}(B) = -2\overline{\partial} - i(B+1)/y$ . The Landau Hamiltonian can be written as:

$$2H(B) = y^2 D(B) D^{\dagger}(B-1) + B = y^2 D^{\dagger}(B-1)D(B) - B.$$

Positivity of the kinetic energy says that Ker D(B) = 0 for B > 0. The index theorem says that (see the next section):

$$\dim \operatorname{Ker} D^{\dagger}(B-1) - \dim \operatorname{Ker} D(B-1) =$$

$$(2B-1) \frac{\operatorname{Area}}{4\pi}.$$
(6.3)

Combining the two gives, for B > 1, the ground state energy B/2 and degeneracy, [5],

$$\dim \operatorname{Ker} D^{\dagger}(B-1) = (2B-1) \ \frac{\operatorname{Area}}{4\pi}.$$

It is instructive to restate the result in terms of the number of flux quanta. B > 1, which is where the method applies, correspond to total flux that is larger than 2(h-1). The ground state degeneracy is (# flux quanta) - (h-1). The method distinguishes a region of weak magnetic fields, where the total magnetic flux is less than 2(h-1), and where the method does not apply, and a region of strong magnetic fields where the total magnetic flux is larger than 2(h-1) and the method fixes the ground state energy and it degeneracy.

The dynamics and spectral properties in weak magnetic fields is complicated, because,the negative curvature dominates the Lorentz force.

### 6.4. Index and Heat Kernel

Given operators A and B, the spectra of AB and BA almost coincide, that is:

$$Spec(AB)/\{0\} = Spec(BA)/\{0\}.$$

Hence, if  $DD^{\dagger}$  is an operator with discrete spectrum, all its non-zero eigenvalues coincide with those of  $D^{\dagger}D$ . It follows that for any  $\beta > 0$ ,

$$\dim KerD^{\dagger} - \dim KerD = Tr\left(e^{-\beta DD^{\dagger}} - e^{-\beta D^{\dagger}D}\right).$$

Since the right hand side is independent of  $\beta$  we compute it in the limit  $\beta \to 0$ . To leading order in  $\beta$ :

$$Tr\left(e^{-\beta DD^{\dagger}} - e^{-\beta D^{\dagger}D}\right) \rightarrow \beta Tr\left([D^{\dagger}, D]e^{-\beta D^{\dagger}D}\right)$$

When  $\beta \to 0$  the "heat" propagates only little around a small neighborhood where the behavior of space is approximately Euclidean [15, 32]. This suggests

$$\langle x|\mathrm{e}^{-\beta D^{\dagger}D}|y\rangle \to \frac{1}{4\pi\beta}\mathrm{e}^{-(x-y)^2/2\beta}.$$

Suppose now that  $[D^{\dagger}, D]$  is a multiplication operator (it is in the applications above), then

$$\dim KerD^{\dagger} - \dim KerD = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{polygon} \mathrm{d}^2 x \left( [D^{\dagger}, D] \right)(x).$$

The commutator

$$[D^{\dagger}(B-1), D(B-1)] = \begin{cases} 2(B-1) & \text{flat torus;} \\ (2B-1)/y^2 & \text{Poincaré,} \end{cases}$$

gives the index formulas Eqs. (6.1-3).

# 7. Currents

### 7.1. Summary

This section discusses two notions of current operator operator in quantum mechanics. Every textbook in quantum mechanics tells us what the *current* 

Adiabatic Transport



Fig. 7.1: The currents through homologous cuts on a disc

density operator is and the innocent reader may wonder if he does not already know all there is to know about the current operator. A point we stress here is that there is no one current operator; the current is an (operator valued) function on cross sections, and more precisely on the closed (n-1) chains, (n is the dimension). See Fig. 7.1 where two distinct cross sections for the current are shown. The duality between homology and cohomology leads to a more general notion of currents as a function on the closed 1-forms. These may be viewed at currents averaged over a distribution of cross sections. We call this generalized notion loop current. On a surface with h holes, it is convenient to consider the loop current as a 1-form whose h components correspond to the h loop-currents. The loop current operator is the operator valued 1-form d H(A), where d is the exterior differential with respect to fluxes, H is the Hamiltonian and A is the 1-form of the Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields. This definition is of course independent of whether H is solvable or not and in particular holds for Hthat describe interacting, multiparticle, Schrödinger operator.

#### 7.2. Classical

Current densities j(x) are 1-forms. Incompressible current densities satisfy d \* j = 0. The currents are (co) periods of the current densities:

$$I(c) = \int_c *j, \quad c \in H_{m-1}(M).$$

Different choices of c correspond to different currents. However, in the case of incompressible flow I(c) = I(c') if c is homologous to c'. Indeed, if  $c - c' = \partial C$ , then

$$I(c) - I(c') = \int_{c-c'} *j = \int_C d*j = 0.$$

#### 7.3. Loop Currents

The notion of current can be generalized by considering it as a function on closed (and normalized) 1-forms. Let  $a \in H^1(M)$  and define the loop current by:

$$I(a) = \int_M a \cdot j \, \mathrm{d} \, Vol = \int_M a \wedge *j.$$

We may think of the 1-form a as associated with an Aharonov-Bohm gauge field (with normalized periods). In general, different choices of flux tubes such as in Fig. 2.3, lead to different currents. If a is in a singular  $\delta$  like 1-form concentrated on the closed chain c, (with normalized period), I(a) = I(c). In the cases that a is a smooth 1-form, this is a more general notion of a current (which may be thought of as averaged over cross sections). The current depends on a. However, for incompressible flow it is a function on the cohomology, i.e. I(a) = I(a') if  $a - a' = d\chi$ , the current is independent of the choice of flux tubes.

### 7.4. The Current Operator

The velocity operator in quantum mechanics was defined as the 1-form, Eq. (5.1). In a state  $|\psi\rangle$  the expectation of the current density is

$$\langle \psi | j(x) | \psi \rangle = - \operatorname{Re} \, \overline{\psi}(x)(\boldsymbol{v}\psi)(x).$$

The loop current involves a choice of weight a and is defined by

$$I(a,\psi) = -\frac{1}{2} \langle \psi | a \cdot v + v \cdot a | \psi \rangle.$$

Let

$$oldsymbol{A} = \sum \phi^j \, a_j + oldsymbol{A}_{\mathbf{o}}, \quad oldsymbol{d} = \sum \mathrm{d} \phi_j \partial_j.$$

with  $a_j$  and  $A_0$  independent of  $\phi$ . Then  $dv = -\sum a_j \, \mathrm{d}\phi^j$ , and

$$I(a,\psi) = \sum I(a_j,\psi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi^j = -\frac{1}{2} \langle \psi | \, \boldsymbol{d}\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{d}\boldsymbol{v} | \psi \rangle = \langle \psi | \boldsymbol{d}H | \psi \rangle, \qquad (7.1)$$

with H the non relativistic, spinless, Schrödinger operator.

If H is time independent and  $|\psi\rangle$  a (normalized, nondegenerate) eigenstate of H with energy E the conventional expression for the persistent currents [18]

$$\sum \left( \partial_j E \right) \, \mathrm{d}\phi^j, \tag{7.2}$$

follows from Eq. (7.1) and Feynman-Hellman. This is a case where the current is (guaranteed to be) incompressible, and independent of the flux tube.

# 8. Adiabatic Theorems

#### 8.1. Summary

It is a basic fact that the evolution generated by a time independent Schrödinger operator reduces to spectral analysis. Adiabatic theorems say that the evolution generated by slowly varying time-dependent Schrödinger operators, also reduce to spectral analysis, but of *a family* of Schrödinger operators. A strategy we shall describe here, which goes back to Kato, [36] is to compare the true evolution with a fictitious evolution, with geometric significance. Adiabatic theorems compare the two evolutions.

#### 8.2. Hilbert Space Projections

Let P be a projection operator:  $P^2 = P$ , so  $Spec(P) = \{0, 1\}$ . P is orthogonal if  $P^{\dagger} = P$ .

$$\dim P \equiv \dim RangeP = Tr P = \dim Ker (P-1).$$

Differentiating  $P^2 = P$  gives

$$P(dP) P = 0.$$
 (8.1)

For example, a one dimensional projection (non-orthogonal) is:  $P = |\psi\rangle\langle\phi|$ , with  $\langle\phi|\psi\rangle = 1$ . Eq. (8.1) reads:  $\langle d\phi|\psi\rangle + \langle\phi|d\psi\rangle = 0$ . Spectral projections commute with H, PH = HP and have an integral representation:

$$P = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint R(z) dz.$$

It follows that P is orthogonal whenever H is self-adjoint. Unless otherwise stated we shall assume that P is associated with an energy interval bordered by gaps, as shown in Fig. 8.1.

#### 8.3. The Adiabatic Setting

Consider a family of Schrödinger operators, H(s), with parameter s which is time independent in the past and future. Let  $\tau$  be the time scale, and



Fig. 8.1: The spectrum and the contour associated to a spectral projection

 $s = t/\tau$  the scaled time. Consider the evolution equations  $i\partial_t U(t) =$  $H(t/\tau) U(t)$ , or equivalently,

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \partial_s U(s) = H(s) U(s), \tag{8.2}$$

with initial condition U(0) = 1 for the evolution operator in the limit  $\tau \to \infty$ .

### 8.4. Adiabatic Evolution

Kato [36] introduced fictitious evolutions,  $U_A$ , which are defined so that they respect the spectral splitting of the Hamiltonian, that is, with strictly zero tunneling expressed by  $U_A(s) P(0) = P(s) U_A(s)$ . The corresponding generator,  $H_A = (i/\tau)(dU_A) U_A^{\dagger}$ , satisfies  $[H_A, P] = (i/\tau) \dot{P}$ . The most general solution of this commutator equation is given by

$$H_A(s) = f(H) + \frac{i}{\tau} [\dot{P}, P],$$

with f an arbitrary function. Kato chose f = 0.

$$H_K(s) = \frac{1}{\tau} [\dot{P}, P], \qquad (8.3)$$

turns out to be purely geometric in character (see 9.3). Another natural choice [10] is to take f(x) = x, which gives

$$H_{ASY}(s) = H(s) + \frac{i}{\tau} [\dot{P}, P],$$
 (8.4)

a generator which is formally close to the physical generator.

### 8.5. Comparison of Dynamics

The essence of adiabatic theorems is the comparison of the physical and fictitious dynamics for times order  $\tau$ . One way to do that is to consider how close is

$$S(s) \equiv U_A^{\dagger}(s) \ U(s)$$

to the identity. Kato showed that

$$S(s) - 1 = O(1/\tau). \tag{8.5}$$

Stronger results are described in [17, 37, 39, 41].

### 9. The Adiabatic Curvature

This chapter describes the geometry of families of Hilbert space projections. The adiabatic curvature, for a one dimensional projection, is a close relative of Berry's phase [16, 50]. It is a measure of the sensitivity of the *quantum states* to parametric changes in the Hamiltonian. Of course, a quantum system can display sensitivity in more than one way, such as sensitivity of the spectrum (as a set) and the eigen-energies. In the applications to charge transport the parameters are Aharonov Bohm fluxes and the adiabatic curvature is related to non-dissipative transport.

#### 9.1. Parallel Transport and Riemanian Geometry

Let P denote the operator associated to family of finite dimensional and smooth projections. When Range P is one (complex) dimensional,

Range 
$$P \simeq \mathbf{C} \simeq \mathbf{R}^2$$
.

Parallel transport (or connection) is concerned with the question of orienting planes in the family.

Since Riemanian geometry provides a basic paradigm, and the historical motivation, for the more abstract setting, it is useful to recall how these issues get sorted out in Riemanian geometry. Consider, for example Fig. 9.1, which shown a bundle of tangent planes.

The Levi-Civita connection stipulates that tangent vectors is parallel transported along a geodesic if it keeps its length and angle with respect to the geodesic. This rule can be used to transport a frame from one plane to another along a geodesic. The rule can be expressed in terms of a first order



Fig. 9.1: A bundle of tangent planes to the sphere

differential equation involving the covariant derivative D, as the following example shows: Consider the Poincaré plane. With  $v \in C$  we associate the tangent vector  $(v_x, v_y) = (\operatorname{Re} v, \operatorname{Im} v)$ . Since vertical lines are geodesics, the Levi-Civita connection says that a constant vector field on vertical lines v has parallel vectors, so the equation of parallel transport is  $\partial_y v = 0$ . Similarly, semi-circles with r = const are geodesics, and Levi-Civita says that the vector field  $e^{i\theta}$  has parallel vectors. The corresponding differential equation is  $\partial_{\theta} v = i v$ . In Cartesian coordinates these two equations read

$$\partial_y v = 0, \quad \left(\partial_x + \frac{\mathrm{i}}{y}\right) v = 0.$$

This fixes the covariant derivative to be

$$D = \left(\vartheta_x + \frac{\mathrm{i}}{y}, \vartheta_y\right).$$

The Levi-Civita connection coincides (up to a factor i) with the quantum mechanical velocity operator in the gauge field A = B/y for B = 1.

#### 9.2. The Canonical Connection

We shall denote by d the exterior derivative with respect to the parameters and think of these as fluxes.

When P = 1 the constant vector field has all its vectors parallel to each other and the equation of parallel transport is  $d|\psi\rangle = 0$ . The natural geometric generalization of this to non-trivial projections is to require that

Adiabatic Transport



Fig. 9.2: Holonomy of tangent vectors on the sphere

there is no variation of the vector in Range P, i.e.  $P d |\psi\rangle = 0$  along a path  $\gamma$ . This sets the covariant derivative to be D = P d. For  $|\psi\rangle \in Range P$ ,  $P_{\perp}d$  is "tensorial",  $(P_{\perp} \equiv 1 - P)$ , i.e. for a (scalar valued) function g

$$(P_{\perp}\boldsymbol{d}) \ g |\psi\rangle = g P_{\perp}\boldsymbol{d} |\psi\rangle = g (\mathrm{d}P) |\psi\rangle.$$

One has the operator identities on Range P

$$D = P\boldsymbol{d} = \boldsymbol{d} - (\boldsymbol{d}P) \ P = \boldsymbol{d} - [\boldsymbol{d}P, \ P].$$

From this sequence of identities one sees that if the parameter is (scaled) time, the equation of parallel transport

$$\mathrm{i} D_s |\psi\rangle = \left(\mathrm{i} \,\partial_s - \mathrm{i} [\dot{P}, P]\right) |\psi\rangle = \left(\mathrm{i} \,\partial_t - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\tau} [\dot{P}, P]\right) |\psi\rangle = 0,$$

is Schrödinger equation with the adiabatic generator of Kato Eq. (8.3).

### 9.3. Curvature

Curvature measures the extent that parallel transport along a closed path fails to bring a vector back to itself. A standard example from Riemanian geometry is associated with the parallel transport of tangent vectors along a spherical triangle, as shown in Fig. 9.2

For example, suppose RangeP is one dimensional, and pick an appropriately normalized, vector  $|\psi\rangle$  in RangeP. That is  $P = |\psi\rangle\langle\varphi|$ ,  $\langle\varphi|\psi\rangle = 1$ .

Any vector in Range P can be written as  $|f\rangle = g|\psi\rangle$ , g complex valued. The equation of parallel transport is

$$\langle \varphi | D | f \rangle = dg + g \langle \varphi | d\psi \rangle = g (d \log g + \langle \varphi | d\psi \rangle) = 0.$$

For a circle of projections, i.e. for a closed path  $\ell$  in parameter space,

$$\int_{\ell} oldsymbol{d} \log \ g = - \ \int_{\ell} \langle arphi | oldsymbol{d} \psi 
angle = - \ \int_{\mathfrak{d}^{-1} \ell} \langle oldsymbol{d} arphi | oldsymbol{d} \psi 
angle.$$

 $\langle d\varphi | d\psi \rangle$  is the adiabatic curvature and  $\partial^{-1}\ell$  is a surface with boundary  $\ell$ .

### 9.4. Projections of Arbitrary Rank

The example in the previous subsection introduces the adiabatic curvature for projections which are rank one. Here we generalize this to projections of higher rank. This generalization is both natural, and something we shall need for the applications. Some applications concern infinite dimensional projections.

Let  $\phi$  denote the coordinates in parameter space, i.e. the family of projection is represented by a function  $P(\phi)$ . The curvature,  $\Omega$ , is a 2-form with components  $\Omega_{jk}$ :

$$\Omega = \sum \Omega_{jk} \, \mathrm{d}\phi^j \wedge \mathrm{d}\phi^k, \quad \Omega_{jk} = [D_j, D_k].$$

It is remarkable that even though  $\Omega$  is made from differential operators, it is not a differential operator. In fact (on Range P)

$$[D_{j}, D_{k}] = (P \vartheta_{j})(P \vartheta_{k}) - (P \vartheta_{k})(P \vartheta_{j})$$
  
=  $P(\vartheta_{j}P) \vartheta_{k} - P(\vartheta_{k}P) \vartheta_{j}$   
=  $P(\vartheta_{j}P) P_{\perp} \vartheta_{k} - P(\vartheta_{k}P) P_{\perp} \vartheta_{j}$   
=  $P(\vartheta_{j}P) (\vartheta_{k}P) - P(\vartheta_{k}P) (\vartheta_{j}P)$   
=  $P[(\vartheta_{j}P), (\vartheta_{k}P)] = P[(\vartheta_{j}P), (\vartheta_{k}P)] P.$ 

In form notation we have

$$\Omega = P \ \boldsymbol{d} P \wedge \boldsymbol{d} P \ P.$$

#### 9.5. Miscellaneous Formulas for the Curvature

Suppose P is a spectral projection associated with an eigenvalue e of the Schrödinger operator H, i.e. PH = eP. Then

$$\Omega(P) = P \ \boldsymbol{d}H \ \hat{R}^2(e) \ \boldsymbol{d}H \ P, \quad \hat{R}(z) = P_\perp R(z) \ P_\perp. \tag{9.1}$$

This is a relative of formulas of perturbation theory and of Kubo type formulas. The rank one case is a special case of this since by first order perturbation theory

$$|\psi\rangle = -\hat{R}(E) (dH) |\psi\rangle.$$

Suppose that the family of projections is represented by the action of a family of unitaries on a fixed projection. That is

$$P = U \ Q \ U^{\dagger}, \quad \boldsymbol{d}Q = 0.$$

Let  $\mathbf{A} = (\mathbf{d}U) U^{\dagger}$ , denote the generator of the family. Using  $\mathbf{d}P = [\mathbf{A}, P]$ and  $\mathbf{d}P P = P_{\perp} \mathbf{A} P$ , we find

$$\Omega(P) = -P \mathbf{A} P_{\perp} \mathbf{A} P = -P \mathbf{A} \wedge \mathbf{A} P + (P \mathbf{A} P) \wedge (P \mathbf{A} P).$$

Two special cases that deserve spelling out are:

*Finite Rank:* If P is finite dimensional and A is bounded, cyclicity of the trace and anticommutativity of 1-forms gives

$$Tr\,\Omega(P) = -Tr\left(P\,\boldsymbol{A}\wedge\boldsymbol{A}\,P\right), \quad dim\,P < \infty, \ \boldsymbol{A} \ bounded.$$
(9.2)

If U comes from a Lie group, A is a Lie algebra valued 1-form, and  $A \wedge A$  a Lie algebra valued 2-form [48].

Gauge transformation: When U comes from a (smooth) family of (abelian) gauge transformation  $\mathbf{A} \wedge \mathbf{A} = 0$  and:

$$Tr\,\Omega(P) = Tr\,\Big(\,(P\,\boldsymbol{A}P)\,\wedge(P\,\boldsymbol{A}\,P)\,\Big). \tag{9.3}$$

The curvature vanishes if P is finite dimensional.

### 9.6. General Properties of the Curvature

The flatness of the full Hilbert space is expressed by:

$$\Omega(P_{\perp}) = -Tr\,\Omega(P). \tag{9.4}$$

Spectral projections that come from self-adjoint Hamiltonians are automatically orthogonal. For orthogonal projections,  $P = P^{\dagger}$ , the adiabatic curvature is pure imaginary:

$$\Omega(P)^{\dagger} = -\Omega(P); \quad Re \, Tr \, \Omega(P) = 0. \tag{9.5}$$

For this reason one finds that the adiabatic curvature is often defined to be a multiple of  $\sqrt{-1}$  of the adiabatic curvature as we have defined it here.

If P is orthogonal and time reversal invariant, i.e. P commutes with a (fixed) anti-unitary, then

$$Tr\,\Omega^{2n+1}(P) = 0, (9.6)$$

for all integral n. If P, Q are commuting orthogonal projections, i.e. PQ = QP = 0, then P + Q is an orthogonal projection and

$$Tr\,\Omega(P+Q) = Tr\,\Omega(P) + Tr\,\Omega(Q). \tag{9.7}$$

For  $P = U \ Q \ U^{\dagger}$ 

$$\operatorname{Tr} \Omega(P) = \operatorname{Tr} \Omega(Q) + \boldsymbol{d} \operatorname{Tr} (Q \ U^{\dagger} \mathrm{d} U).$$
(9.8)

## 10. Constant Curvature

#### 10.1. Summary

Here we give a collection of examples where the adiabatic curvature is a multiple of a natural area form in parameter space. Constant curvature are related to quantized transport.

### 10.2. Curvature and Quantum Numbers

Consider spin 1/2 in a magnetic field [16]

$$H = B \cdot \sigma, \quad B \in \mathbb{R}^3 / \{0\}.$$

 $\sigma$  is the triplet of Pauli matrices. The family of eigenvalues,  $E_{\pm} = \pm |B|$ , has a conic singularity at the origin, as shown in Fig. 10.1. The family of projections is smooth away from the origin and is given by

$$P_{\pm} = \frac{1 \pm \hat{B} \cdot \sigma}{2}, \quad \hat{B} = B/|B|.$$

The associated curvature is proportional to the area form of the unit sphere:

$$Tr\,\Omega(P_{\pm}) = \pm \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2|B|^3} \left( B_1 \mathrm{d}B^2 \wedge \mathrm{d}B^3 + B_2 \mathrm{d}B^3 \wedge \mathrm{d}B^1 + B_3 \mathrm{d}B^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}B^2 \right).$$

Adiabatic Transport



Fig. 10.1: A Conic family of eigenvalues

It is 1/2 the Riemanian (Levi-Civita) curvature of the unit sphere reflecting the fact that  $2\pi$  rotation of spin 1/2 flips the sign.

#### 10.3. Phase Space Translations

The family of unitaries associated with translations and boosts:

$$U_a = \exp(\mathrm{i}pa/\hbar), \quad V_b = \exp(-\mathrm{i}xb/\hbar), \quad [p,x] = -i\hbar, \quad a,b \in \mathbf{R}.$$

satisfy the Weyl-Heisenberg algebra  $U_a V_b = e^{iab/\hbar} V_b U_a$ .  $W(a, b) = U_a V_b$ , the unitary family of phase space translations, is generated by:

i 
$$(\boldsymbol{d}W) W^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\hbar} (-p\boldsymbol{d}a + (a+x)\boldsymbol{d}b).$$

For Q fixed the family of projections  $P=WQW^{\dagger}$  has constant curvature on phase space:

$$\operatorname{Tr} \Omega(P) = -\frac{1}{\hbar} (\operatorname{Tr} Q) \, \boldsymbol{d} a \wedge \boldsymbol{d} b.$$

### 10.4. Landau Hamiltonians on Tori

The previous example can be used to compute the adiabatic curvature associated with Landau levels on tori. Take the torus  $[0, 2\pi] \times [0, 2\pi]$ . The magnetic co-translations:

$$U_{\phi} = \exp i v_1 \phi/B, \quad V_{\phi} = \exp -i v_2 \phi/B,$$

(with  $v_j$  the components of the velocity operator Eq. (5.1) in the symmetric gauge), satisfy Weyl-Heisenberg algebra  $U_a V_b = \exp(iab/B) V_b U_a$ . A computation like the previous example gives

$$Tr \ \Omega(P) = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{B} (Tr P) \ \boldsymbol{d}\phi_1 \wedge \boldsymbol{d}\phi_2.$$
(10.1)

From Eq. (6.2) we know that the degeneracy of Landau levels for the  $[2\pi \times 2\pi]$  torus is:  $Tr \ P = BArea/2\pi = 2\pi B$  (which is integral by Dirac) and thus

$$Tr \ \Omega(P) = 2\pi \mathrm{i} \, d\phi_1 \wedge d\phi_2.$$

It follows that adiabatic curvature is (universal) constant on flux space. A result of the next chapter is that the Hall conductance is the  $\sqrt{-1}$  multiple of the adiabatic curvature. This makes the Hall conductance of a Landau level equal  $1/2\pi$ . To convert this to the usual units, recall that the unit of conductance is  $2\pi(e^2/h)$  with e the electron charge and h Planck constant.

### 10.5. Curvature and Gauge Transformations

Consider the family of Schrödinger Hamiltonians on the infinite plane:  $H(\boldsymbol{v}, x)$  with

$$\boldsymbol{v}(\phi) = \boldsymbol{v} - \phi_1 \,\mathrm{d}\chi(x) - \phi_2 \,\mathrm{d}\chi(y),$$

and where  $\chi$  is a switching function. The flux dependence of the family comes from gauge transformations. As a consequence, if we let *P* project on all states below the Fermi energy  $E_{\rm F}$ , then

$$P(\phi) = W(\phi) P(0) W^{\dagger}(\phi), \quad W(\phi) = \exp -i (\phi_1 \chi(x) + \phi_2 \chi(y)),$$

with an (abelian) generator  $\mathbf{A} = \chi(x)\mathbf{d}\phi_1 + \chi(y)\mathbf{d}\phi_2$ . From Eq. (9.3)

$$Tr \,\Omega = Tr[P(0)\chi(x)P(0), P(0)\chi(y)P(0)] \,d\phi_1 \wedge d\phi_2.$$
(10.2)

The adiabatic curvature is a constant, independent of the flux. In order to examine it in more detail we shall need a formula for certain integrals of switching functions.

### 10.6. Area of Triangles

A remarkable integral of switching functions is:

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^2} dx_1 \wedge dx_2 \left( \chi(y_1 + x_1) \, \chi(z_2 + x_2) - \chi(y_2 + x_2) \, \chi(z_1 + x_1) \right) \\ = y \wedge z \,. \tag{10.3}$$

Where  $y \wedge z = y_1 z_2 - y_2 z_1$  is (twice) the areas of triangle with vertices at (0, y, z). The (singular) integral is independent of details of the switching function, and gives a multilinear function of the coordinates on the right hand side whereas the dependence on the coordinates of the integrand is non-linear. We shall meet areas of triangles again in the last section when we discuss conductance as an Index.

#### 10.7. Curvature for Landau Levels

We can say more about the curvature of Landau levels in Eq. (10.2). We note that since the magnetic field is constant, the Hamiltonian, and therefore also the spectral projection on a Landau level, is translation invariant up to gauge transformation. That is, with  $a, x, y \in \mathbb{R}^2$ :

$$\langle x+a|P|y+a\rangle = e^{-i\Lambda(x;a)} \langle x|P|y\rangle e^{i\Lambda(y;a)},.$$
(10.4)

Eqs. (10.2-3) give:

$$Tr \Omega_{12}(P) = \int_{R^6} dx \, dy \, dz \, \langle x|P|y \rangle \, \langle y|P|z \rangle \, \langle z|P|x \rangle \times \left( \chi(y_1) \, \chi(z_2) - \chi(y_2) \, \chi(z_1) \right)$$

$$= \int_{R^4} dy \, dz \, \langle 0|P|y \rangle \, \langle y|P|z \rangle \, \langle z|P|0 \rangle \, y \, \wedge \, z.$$
(10.5)

For the lowest Landau level in the plane one has

$$\langle x|P|y\rangle = (B/2\pi) e^{-B(x-y)^2/4} e^{iB\cdot x \wedge y/2}.$$

The four dimensional integral is essentially Gaussian. It turns out to integrate to  $\sqrt{-1}$ 

#### 11. Conductances

#### 11.1. Summary

The basic formula which relates transport coefficients with the adiabatic curvature is, formally:

$$I(a,\psi) = \mathbf{d}E - \dot{\phi} \cdot \left(\sqrt{-1}\,\Omega(P)\right). \tag{11.1}$$



Fig.11.1: A path in flux space and the associated vector  $\phi$ 

 $I(a, \psi)$  is the expectation value of the (adiabatically evolving), loop current 1-form discussed in chapter 7. *a* is the Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields which specify a particular loop current operator (see 7.3).  $\psi$  is the (instantaneous) eigenstate.  $dE = \sum \left(\frac{\partial E}{\partial \phi^j}\right) d\phi^j$  with *E* the eigenenergy function gives the contribution of the persistent currents to the loop current, Eq. (7.2).  $\dot{\phi}$  is the vector of emf due to adiabatically varying fluxes;  $\Omega(P)$  is the adiabatic curvature in the ground state, and  $P = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ .  $\sqrt{-1}\Omega$  is a (real) conductance 2-form in flux space. It is proportional to the area form in flux space and the constant of proportionality is the common conductance. (The conductance is normally thought of as a function and not as a 2-form.) The notion of conductance as a function clearly depends on the existence of a natural area form in flux space something we introduced in section 2.8.

#### 11.2. Setting

Consider a finite quantum system, with one or many interacting electrons, in the presence of external Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields. We assume that the adiabatic theorem holds (see section 8) and the system is initially in the ground state, which is non-degenerate and associated with a finite vector  $\psi$ . When all the gauge fields are held fixed, there are, in general, persistent currents in the ground state. Consider a situation where one, or some, of the fluxes are varied adiabatically in time, e.g. as represented in Fig. 11.1. This generates a small emf around some of the loops in the system and will lead, in general, to additional charge transport, beyond that carried by the persistent current. This is the object we focus on.

### 11.3. Charge Transport and Adiabatic Curvature

Here is a pedantic formulation of Eq. (11.1).

Theorem: Suppose  $\phi_1(s)$  changes monotonically and adiabatically,  $\phi_2$  fixed, and that at t = 0 the system is in a (non degenerate) ground state  $\psi$ . The total charge transport around  $\phi_2$ , from time 0 to time  $t = s\tau > 0$  with s fixed, is

$$Q_2(s\tau,\phi_2,\psi) = \tau \int_0^s \frac{\partial E}{\partial \phi_2} \,\mathrm{d}s - \mathrm{i} \int_{\phi(0)}^{\phi(s)} \mathrm{d}\phi_1 \,\Omega_{12}\big(P(\phi_1,\phi_2)\big) + O(1/\tau).$$

The projection is  $P = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ .

Remarks

1. The first term, can be interpreted as the contribution of persistent currents. It is the leading term being  $O(\tau)$ . The contribution of the adiabatic curvature to transport is subleading and O(1). It is geometric in the sense that it depends on the orbit traversed in flux space but not on its history in time.

2. There are situations where charge transport is dominated by the adiabatic curvature. First, in certain classes of models the contribution from the persistent currents vanishes identically. This is the case for the models discussed in chapters 6,10 and 13. More generally, for any model, consider a path of (almost) *fixed emf* in flux space, which winds over many Aharonov-Bohm flux periods  $O(\tau^{1/2+\epsilon})$ . Since the contribution from the persistent currents have a vanishing average over an Aharonov-Bohm period, the contribution of the persistent currents is  $O(\tau^{1/2-\epsilon})$  and the contribution of the adiabatic curvature, being  $O(\tau^{1/2+\epsilon})$ , dominates. Finally, for any model, and any path in flux space the  $\phi_2$  averaged charge is determined by adiabatic curvature alone.

Proof

Charge transport can always be computed as a boundary value:

$$Q_2 \equiv \int_0^t \mathrm{d}t \, \left\langle \psi \right| \frac{\partial H}{\partial \phi_2} \left| \psi \right\rangle = \tau \int_0^s \, \mathrm{d}s \left\langle \psi \right| \frac{\partial H}{\partial \phi_2} \left| \psi \right\rangle = \mathrm{i} \left\langle \psi \right| \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \phi_2} \right\rangle \Big|_0^s,$$

where all that was used in the definition of current, the Schrödinger equation  $\frac{i}{\tau} \partial_s \psi = H(s, \phi_2) \psi$ , and integration by parts. We now introduce the evolution operator,  $U(s, \phi_2)$ , the adiabatic evolution  $U_A(s, \phi_2)$  and their comparison  $S(s, \phi_2)$  (see section 8):

$$|\psi(s,\phi_2)\rangle = U(s,\phi_2) |\psi(0,\phi_2)\rangle = U_A(s,\phi_2) S(s,\phi_2) |\psi(0,\phi_2)\rangle.$$

In this notation

$$\left\langle \psi \middle| \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \phi_2} \right\rangle \left|_{0}^{s} = Tr \left\{ S(s,\phi_2) P(0,\phi_2) S^{\dagger}(s,\phi_2) \times \left( U_A^{\dagger}(s,\phi_2) \left( \frac{\partial U_A}{\partial \phi_2} \right)(s,\phi_2) + \left( \frac{\partial S}{\partial \phi_2} \right)(s,\phi_2) S^{\dagger}(s,\phi_2) \right) \right\}$$

By the adiabatic theorem  $S(s, \phi_2) = 1 + O(1/\tau)$ , so

$$Q_{2} = i Tr \left\{ P(0, \phi_{2}) U_{A}^{\dagger}(s, \phi_{2}) \frac{\partial U_{A}}{\partial \phi_{2}}(s, \phi_{2}) \right\} + O(1/\tau)$$
$$= i \langle \psi_{A} | \frac{\partial \psi_{A}}{\partial \phi_{2}} \rangle \Big|_{0}^{s} + O(1/\tau).$$

 $|\psi_A\rangle$  evolves according to the adiabatic evolution  $\frac{i}{\tau} \partial_s \psi_A = H_{ASY}(s, \psi_2) \psi_A$ and

$$\left|\frac{\partial\psi_A}{\partial s}\right\rangle = \dot{\phi}_1 \left|\frac{\partial\psi_A}{\partial\phi_1}\right\rangle$$

We now unwind the computation above using:

$$\partial_s \Big( \langle \psi_A | \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial \phi_2} \rangle \Big) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi_2} \langle \psi_A | \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial s} \rangle + \Big( \langle \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial s} | \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial \phi_2} \rangle - \langle \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial \phi_2} | \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial s} \rangle \Big).$$

The first bracket gives the adiabatic curvature term. The second brackets give the persistent currents since

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{d}_{\phi_2} \langle \psi_A | \frac{\partial \psi_A}{\partial s} \rangle &= -\mathrm{i}\tau \, \mathfrak{d}_{\phi_2} \langle \psi_A | H_{ASY} \, \psi_A \rangle = \\ &- \mathrm{i}\tau \, \mathfrak{d}_{\phi_2} \langle \psi_A | H \, \psi_A \rangle = -\mathrm{i}\tau \, \mathfrak{d}_{\phi_2} \, E \,. \end{split}$$

Remarks

1. van-Kampen criticized the interchange of thermodynamic and weak field limit that goes into the standard linear response theory, such as in Kubo's formulas. The framework here involve no interchange of limits.

2. As we shall see in the next section, the adiabatic curvature has quantized periods. Consequently, constant curvature implies quantized curvature. In particular, a necessary and sufficient conditions for linear response to hold with quantized conductances is

No persistent currents  $\wedge$  Constant curvature  $\iff$  Quantized conductances Exercise: Show that for the Aharonov-Bohm gauge field  $\mathbf{A} = \sum \phi^j a_j(x)$ ,

the conductance is a periodic function of the fluxes with the Aharonov-Bohm period.

#### 11.4. Covariance

Two identical systems with Aharonov-Bohm gauge fields  $\phi^j a_j$  in one and  $\phi^j \tilde{a}_j$  in the other, have unitarily equivalent Schrödinger operators. Nevertheless, the two systems *do not*, in general have the same conductances. Let

$$d\chi_j = a_j - \tilde{a}_j, \quad U = \prod e^{i\phi^j \chi_j}, \quad Q = U P U^{\dagger}.$$

Then,

$$Tr\left(\Omega(Q) - \Omega(P)\right) = \boldsymbol{d} Tr\left(PU^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{d}U\right) = \mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{d} Tr\left(P\chi_{j}\right)\boldsymbol{d}\phi^{j}.$$

There is no reason for the right hand side to vanish in general. The conductances of the two systems would then be different. In particular, the conductances are not a function on the flux torus as defined in 2.7.

This result is disturbing at first, because it appears to conflict with gauge invariance. It does not. The two systems are gauge equivalent when the fluxes are viewed as parameters. However, when the fluxes actually change in time, even adiabatically, the two systems have different electric fields and are not gauge equivalent.

### 12. Chern Numbers

#### 12.1. Summary

In this section we show that the periods of the adiabatic curvature are integrals multiples of  $2\pi i$ . First we consider the classical situation where the projection lives on a closed manifold (specifically, a sphere). Then we consider a slight generalization, where the projection is periodic *up to gauge transformations*. We then discuss few applications, including a Diophantine equation for the periods. Seminal papers on Chern numbers in condensed matter theory are [24, 45, ???, ???]

# 12.2. Chern Number of a Complex Line Bundle on $S^2$ :

Suppose P is one dimensional so Range  $P \simeq C$ . On the upper hemisphere, (see Fig. 1.6), we can choose a smooth family of normalized vectors,  $|\psi_+\rangle \in Range P$ . Similarly, in the lower hemisphere we choose  $|\psi_-\rangle \in Range P$ .

The period of the adiabatic curvature associated to P is

$$\int_{S^2} \operatorname{Tr} \Omega = \int_{S_+} \mathrm{d} \langle \psi_+ | \mathrm{d} \psi_+ \rangle + \int_{S_-} \mathrm{d} \langle \psi_- | \mathrm{d} \psi_- \rangle$$
$$= \int_{\partial S_+} \left( \langle \psi_+ | \mathrm{d} \psi_+ \rangle - \langle \psi_- | \mathrm{d} \psi_- \rangle \right).$$

But, since Rank P is one dimensional

$$\psi_+ = \left( \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\chi} \right) \ \psi_-,$$

with  $\chi$  a real valued, smooth function, on the equator. Direct computation shows

$$\langle \psi_+ | \mathrm{d}\psi_+ \rangle - \langle \psi_- | \mathrm{d}\psi_- \rangle = \mathrm{i}\,\mathrm{d}\chi.$$

So finally,

$$\int_{S^2} \operatorname{Tr} \Omega = \mathrm{i} \, \int_{\partial S_+} \mathrm{d} \chi = 2\pi \mathrm{i} \, \operatorname{Integer}.$$

A similar demonstration works when P is a function on the torus, and, for that matter, any closed surface. In the case  $Range P \simeq C^n$  similar ideas apply.

We shall denote

$$c(P,S) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{S} Tr \,\Omega(P)$$

the Chern number, (an integer), associated to the projection P and the closed surface S (a sphere in the example). The surface S is in parameter space, (and is distinct from the surface in configuration space). The geometry of the quantum system in coordinate space does not enter explicitly. (It affects P, of course.)

For example, consider the  $2\times 2$  hermitian matrix valued function on the 2-sphere [50]:

$$H(\phi) = \sum g_{jk} \phi^j \sigma^k, \quad \det g \neq 0, \quad |\vec{\phi}| = 1.$$

The Chern numbers associated with the projections of the families of lower/upper eigenvalues are

$$c(P_{\pm}, S^2) = \begin{cases} \pm sgn \ \det g & S^2 \ \text{surrounds origin;} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The important thing to note from this example is that non-zero Chern numbers are associated with surfaces in parameter space that encloses the

conic singularity, Fig. 10.1, where eigenvalues cross. For spheres that do not enclose the point of level crossing the Chern number vanishes: *Chern numbers are born where the adiabatic limit dies*.

#### 12.3. Chern numbers for the Flux Torus

In applications to charge transport, P is a spectral projection on flux space. It is not, in general, a periodic function of the fluxes but rather it is periodic up to pure gauge fields (section 2.6). The integrality of the Chern numbers requires a slight generalization of the previous demonstration which works under the following assumptions, [???]:

Suppose

$$P(\phi_1 + 2\pi, \phi_2) = U P(\phi_1, \phi_2) U^{\dagger}, \quad P(\phi_1, \phi_2 + 2\pi) = V P(\phi_1, \phi_2) V^{\dagger},$$

with U, V independent of  $\phi$  and commuting UV = VU. Then

$$\int_T \operatorname{Tr} \Omega = 2\pi \, \mathrm{i} \, \operatorname{Integer}, \quad T = [0, 2\pi] \times [0, 2\pi].$$

In the context of conductance, U, V are gauge transformations, associated with pure gauge fields.

#### 12.4. Diophantine Equations

Symmetry arguments can give information on the Chern numbers of charge transport, through Diophantine equation[13, 23, 38, ???].

On the torus in coordinate space  $T_x = [0, 2\pi] \times [0, 2\pi]$ , consider the family of Hamiltonian  $H(v - \phi, x)$ , where v is the velocity (1-form) operator (see 10.3), and  $\phi = \phi^1 dx + \phi^2 dy$  1-form of fluxes. Suppose  $H(v - \phi, x)$  is a periodic function of x with  $m \times n$  unit cells in  $T_x$  which may originate from, say, a periodic potential. The Chern numbers for any smooth family of projection,  $c(P, T_{\phi})$  satisfies

$$(2\pi B) \ c(P, T_{\phi}) - Tr \ P = 0 \ mod \ (mn), \tag{12.1}$$

provided mn and B are relatively prime.  $T_{\phi}$  is the unit torus in flux space. (By Dirac  $2\pi B$  is integral.)

The magnetic co-translations, W, can be used to shift the flux dependence from the kinetic energy term to the potential energy term:

$$H(v - \phi, \{x, y\}) = W(\phi) H(v, \{x - \phi_1/b, y + \phi_2/b\}) W^{\dagger}(\phi).$$

Let  $P(\phi)$  be a spectral projection for H and let  $Q(\phi) = W^{\dagger}(\phi) P(\phi) W(\phi)$ . The corresponding curvature are related by Eq. (9.8):

$$Tr(\Omega(P)) = Tr(\Omega(Q)) + \frac{\mathrm{i}}{B}Tr(P) \,\mathrm{d}\phi_1 \wedge \mathrm{d}\phi_2.$$

Integrating this identity over the square in flux space  $[0, 2\pi B] \times [0, 2\pi B]$  gives

$$(2\pi B)^2 c(P, T_{\phi}) - (2\pi B) Tr P = mn \, Integer.$$

If mn and  $2\pi B$  are relatively prime, Eq. (12.1) follows.

### 13. Counting electrons

#### 13.1. Summary

In this chapter we describe a method for comparing the (infinitely many) number of electrons that lie below the Fermi energy of two extended system. When the method applies, this difference is a finite integer (and an Index of a certain operator). For homogeneous systems this integer coincides with the adiabatic curvature. The recognition that conductance is an Index is due to Bellissard [12].

#### 13.2. Landau Levels

The number of electrons that occupy a full Landau level in the plane is infinite, of course. We want to compare the number of electrons in full Landau levels in situations that differ by one extra flux tube carrying one unit of quantum flux. This is described by the family of Hamiltonians parameterized by the flux in the tube:

$$H(\phi) = -\Delta_{rr} + \left(-\frac{\mathrm{i}}{r}\,\partial_{\theta} - \frac{B\,r^2}{2} + \phi\right)^2.$$

The simplifying feature of this example is the existence of a constant of motion, which makes the problem explicitly soluble, for all values of  $\phi$ , [6]. Increasing  $\phi$  by one unit, induces a flow that takes the spectrum back to itself. But it does so in such a way that if the Fermi energy is just above the lowest Landau level, then an extra electron is added to the system in the process, see Fig. 13.1.

In this example the difference is one, an integer. This need not always be. The corresponding problem for the Laplacian (without magnetic fields) has



Fig. 13.1: The energy spectrum as function of flux

been analyzed by A. Moroz [40]. (There are related results of Akkermans.) It is harder (because the Fermi energy lies in the spectrum) and requires a clever regularization. He finds for the spectral projection below any fixed positive Fermi energy:

$$\dim P_E(\phi) - \dim P_E(0) = -\frac{1}{2}\phi(1-\phi), \quad 0 \leqslant \phi \leqslant 1.$$

The right hand side is never a (non-zero) integer.

### 13.3. Comparing dimensions

Let Index(P,Q) compare the dimensions of P and Q. In the finite dimensional case

$$\operatorname{Index}(P,Q) = \dim P - \dim Q = \operatorname{Tr}(P-Q) \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

A comparison of dimensions should satisfy:

$$\begin{split} Index\,(P,Q) &= -Index\,(Q,P) = -Index\,(P_{\perp},Q_{\perp}) \\ &= Index\,(UPU^{\dagger},UQU^{\dagger}) \\ &= Index\,(P,R) + Index\,(R,Q). \end{split}$$

U unitary and  $P_{\perp} = 1 - P$  and R a projection.

The comparison we introduce satisfies these conditions, [9]. However, for the method to apply P and Q must be close in an appropriate sense, more precisely, P - Q needs to be compact.

### 13.4. Compact operators

*Definition*: C, a self adjoint, bounded, operator, is compact if it has discrete spectrum and 0 is the only point of accumulation of its eigenvalues. Examples:

1. The resolvent of the Harmonic oscillator  $(-\Delta + x^2)^{-1}$  is a compact operator.

2. If P and Q are spectral projections below a gap in the spectrum of non-relativistic Schrödinger operators H and H' in two dimensions, which differ by one Aharonov-Bohm flux tube, then P - Q is compact.

If C is compact, with eigenvalues  $\lambda_n$  then  $\sum |\lambda_n|$  may or may not converge. We say that  $C^N$  is *trace class* if for N (possibly large)

$$\sum |\lambda_n|^N < \infty.$$

13.5. Index

Suppose P - Q compact. Define

$$Index (P,Q) = dim Ker (P - Q - 1) - dim Ker (P - Q + 1).$$

Since P - Q is compact,  $\pm 1$  have at most finite multiplicity. Each of the terms on the right hand side is a finite integer and the index is a finite integer too.

It is not obvious from the definition that the Index is a good comparison of dimensions or even that it reduces to what it should be in the finite dimensional case. To see that it does, let us introduce

$$S = P - Q_{\perp}, \quad C = P - Q_{\perp}$$

Then

$$S^2 + C^2 = 1$$
,  $SC + CS = 0$ .

Theorem:  $Spec C / \{\pm 1\}$  is invariant under reflection. Proof:

$$C e_n = \lambda_n e_n$$

$$C(S e_n) = -S(C e_n) = -\lambda_n(S e_n).$$

It remains to check  $S e_n \neq 0$ .

$$S e_n = 0, \Longrightarrow C^2 e_n = e_n, \Longrightarrow C e_n = \pm e_n.$$

It follows:

Index 
$$(P,Q) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sum_{|\lambda_m| > \epsilon} \lambda_m = Trace(P-Q) = Tr(P-Q)^{2N+1}.$$

#### 13.6. Projection Related by Unitaries

In finite dimensions, if two projections are related by invertible transformations, they have the same dimensions. This is, fortunately, not the case for Hilbert space projections.

Theorem: Suppose P is a spectral projection for a Schrödinger operator, associated with a gap,  $Q = UPU^{\dagger}$ , U a unit flux tube. Then Index(P,Q) is an integer given by

$$Index (P,Q) = Tr (P-Q)^{3} =$$

$$\int_{R^{6}} dxdy dz \langle x | P | y \rangle \langle y | P | z \rangle \langle z | P | x \rangle \times$$

$$\left(1 - \frac{u(x)}{u(y)}\right) \left(1 - \frac{u(y)}{u(z)}\right) \left(1 - \frac{u(z)}{u(x)}\right).$$
(13.1)

Comments:

1. The gap condition guarantees, for a large class of Schrödinger operator, exponential decay:

$$|\langle z| P |x\rangle| < C \exp -c|z-x|, \quad c > 0.$$

2. The convergence near the diagonal comes from:

$$|u(z) - u(x+z)| = |\exp i\theta_1 - \exp i\theta_2| = O(\left|\frac{x}{z}\right|), \quad |z| \to \infty.$$

Fig. 13.2 gives the geometric content of the estimate. The three factors give  $O(|\frac{1}{z}|^3)$  which is enough for two dimensions.

### 13.7. Homogeneous Systems

For Schrödinger operator invariant under translation the Index formula Eq. (13.1) coincides with the adiabatic curvature Eq. (10.2). Landau Hamiltonians with constant magnetic fields are examples, but a version of what

J.E. Avron



Fig. 13.2: Thin triangles

I shall describe below works for random potentials as well. Translation invariance says that Eq. (10.4) holds. We use this to derive a formula of Connes [22]:

$$Index\left(P,Q\right) = 2\pi \mathrm{i} \int \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\langle 0|P|y\rangle\langle y|P|z\rangle \,\langle z|P|0\rangle \, y \wedge z.$$

This coincides with the expression for the adiabatic curvature Eq. (10.5) Proof:

$$Index = \int_{R^4} \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}z \,\langle 0 | \, P \, | y \rangle \,\langle y | \, P \, | z \rangle \,\langle z | \, P \, | 0 \rangle \, f(y,z),$$

where

$$f(y,z) = \int_{R^2} \mathrm{d}x \left( 1 - \frac{u(x)}{u(y-x)} \right) \left( 1 - \frac{u(y-x)}{u(z-x)} \right) \left( 1 - \frac{u(z-x)}{u(x)} \right).$$

It is remarkable that this integral can be explicitly computed to give  $f(x,y) = \pi i y \wedge z$ . To see that note first that the integrand is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{u(z-x)}{u(y-x)} - \frac{u(y-z)}{u(z-x)} \end{pmatrix} + \left( \frac{u(x)}{u(z-x)} - \frac{u(z-x)}{u(x)} \right) + \\ \left( \frac{u(y-x)}{u(x)} - \frac{u(x)}{u(y-x)} \right) = 2\mathbf{i} \left( \sin \alpha + \sin \beta + \sin \gamma \right) \,.$$



Fig. 13.3: The angles related to the oriented  $\{0, y, z\}$ , triangle

The angles are chosen so that  $-\pi \leq \alpha, \beta, \gamma \leq \pi$  and inherit sign from the orientation of the line segments and the orientation of the plane. The rest of Connes's computation has been remarkably simplified by Colin loop Verdiére [???]. Since

$$\alpha + \beta + \gamma = \begin{cases} 2\pi, & x \in \text{Triangle} \\ 0, & \text{outside,} \end{cases}$$

one immediately has

$$\int \mathrm{d}x(\alpha + \beta + \gamma) = 2\pi Area.$$

To complete the computation note that  $\sin \alpha - a = O(|x|^{-3})$  and therefore the integral of  $\sin \alpha - a$  is absolutely convergent. But since the integrand is antisymmetric, it vanishes

$$\int \mathrm{d}^2 x \left(\sin \alpha - a\right) = 0.$$

This shows that the Index coincides with the adiabatic curvature.

### Acknowledgements

The backbone of the lectures comes from works done with Ruedi Seiler over a period of more than ten years. This was a rewarding and gratifying

collaboration. I want also to record my debt to Barry Simon, a teacher and friend; to L. Sadun and P. Zograf for all they taught me; A. Pnueli, for insightful observations and criticisms. I want to thank E. Akkermans, and G. Montambaux for useful comments on a preliminary draft of the lecture notes. This work is supported in part by GIF, the DFG and the fund for promotion of research at the Technion.

#### References

- S. Alexander, Superconductivity of networks: A percolation approach to the effect of disorder, Phys. Rev. B27 1541, (1983).
- [2] M. Antoine, A. Comtet and S. Ouvry, Scattering on a hyperbolic plane in a constant magnetic field, J. Phys. A. 23, 3699, (1990).
- [3] V.I. Arnold, Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics. Springer, (1989).
- [4] J. E. Avron and M. C. Cross, Integer charge transport in Josephson junctions, Phys. Rev. B, Rapid Comm. **39** 756-758, (1989).
- [5] J. E. Avron, M. Klein, A. Pnueli and L. Sadun, Adiabatic Charge Transport and Persistent Currents of Leaky Tori, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 128-131, (1992).
- J.E. Avron and A. Pnueli Landau Hamiltonians on Symmetric Space, in "Ideas and Methods in Mathematical analysis, stochastics, and applications Vol II", S. Albeverio, J. E. Fenstad, H. Holden and T. Lindstrøm, Editors, Cambridge University Press, (1992).
- [7] J. E. Avron, A. Raveh and B. Zur, Adiabatic quantum transport in multiply connected systems, Reviews of Mod. Phys. 60 (1988) 873-916.
- [8] J. E. Avron and L. Sadun, Adiabatic quantum transport in networks with macroscopic component, Ann. Phys. 206, 440-493, (1991).
- [9] J. E. Avron, R. Seiler and B. Simon, Charge Deficiency, Charge Transport and Comparison of Dimensions, Comm. Math. Phys. 159, 399-422, (1994).
- [10] J. E. Avron, R. Seiler and L. G. Yaffe, Adiabatic theorems and applications to the quantum Hall effect, Comm. Math. Phys. 110 (1987) 33-49, (Erratum: Comm. Math. Phys. 153 649-650, (1993)).
- [11] N.L. Balasz and A. Voros, Chaos and the Pseudo Sphere, Phys. Rep. 143, 109, (1986).
- [12] J. Bellissard, in Proc. of the Bad Schandau conf. of Localization, Zieche and Weller eds. Teubner Verlag, Leipzig, (1987).
- [13] J. Bellissard, A. Bovier and J.M. Ghez, Gap labeling theorems for discrete one dimensional Schrödinger operators, Rev. Math. Phys. 4, 1-37, (1991).
- [14] J. Bellissard, A. van Elst and H. Schulz-Baldes, The non commutative geometry of the Quantum Hall effect, J. Math. Phys. (1994).
- [15] N. Berline, E. Getzler and M. Vergne, *Heat kernels and Dirac operators*, Springer, (1992).
- [16] M.V. Berry Quantal phase factors accompanying adiabatic changes, Proc. Roy. Soc. A 392 45-57 (1984); The quantum phase: Five years after, in Geometric phases in physics, A. Shapere and F. Wilczek, Eds., World Scientific, (1989).
- [17] M. V. Berry, Quantum phase corrections from adiabatic iterations, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 414 31-46 (1987).

- [18] F. Bloch, Off diagonal long range order and persistent currents in hollow cylinders, Phys. Rev. 137 A 787 (1965).
- [19] P. Buser, Geometry and Spectra of Compact Riemann Surfaces, Birkhauser, (1992).
- S.S. Chern, Vector bundles with a connection, in Global differential geometry, S.S. Chern, Editor, AMS, (1989).
- [21] A. Comtet, On the Landau levels on the Hyperbolic plane, Ann. Phys. 173 185-209, (1987).
- [22] A. Connes, Noncommutative differential geometry, Pub. Math. IHES, 62 257– 360 (1986).
- [23] I. Dana, Y. Avron and J. Zak, Quantized Hall Conductance in a perfect crystal, J. Phys. C. (Lett) Solid State Phys. 18 L679-L683, (1985).
- [24] B. A. Dubrovin and S. P. Novikov, Ground state of a two dimensional electron in a periodic magnetic field, Sov. Phys. JETP 52, 511-516, (1980) and Ground state in a periodic field, Magnetic Bloch functions and vector bundles, Sov. Math. Dokl. 22, 240-244, (1980); S.P.
- [25] B.A. Dubrovin, A.T. Fomenko S.P. Novikov, Modern Geometry I–III, Springer (1985).
- [26] P. Exner and P. Šeba, Free quantum motion on a branching graph, Rep. Math. Phys. 28, 7-27, (1989).
- [27] H. Farkas and I. Kra, *Riemann Surfaces*, Springer, (1980).
- [28] H. Flanders, *Differential Forms*, Academic Press, (1963).
- [29] J. Fröhlich and U. Studer, Gauge invariance and current algebras is nonrelativistic many body theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 65, 733-802 (1993).
- [30] P.G. loop Gennes, Champ critique d'une boucle supraconductrice ramifiee, C.R. Acad. Sci. Ser. B 292, 279 (1981).
- [31] N.I. Gerassimenko and B.S. Pavlov, Scattering problems on noncompact graphs, Teo. Mat. Fiz. 74, 345-359, (1988), [English translation, Theor. and Math. Phys. 74, 230-240, (1988)].
- [32] P.B. Gilkey, Invariance theory, the heat equation and the Atiyah-Singer Index theorem, Publish or Perish, (1984).
- [33] P. Griffith and J. Harris, Principles of Algebraic Geometry, J. Wiley, N.Y. (1978).
- [34] M. Gutzwiller, Chaos in classical and quantum mechanics, Springer, (1990).
- [35] D. Hejhal, The Selberg Trace formulas for PSL2(R), Lecture Notes in Math. 548, 1001, Springer, (1976,1983).
- [36] T. Kato, On the adiabatic theorem of quantum mechanics, Phys. Soc. Jap. 5, 435-439, (1958).
- [37] M. Klein R. Seiler, Power law corrections to Kubo vanish in Quantum Hall systems, Comm. Math. Phys. 128, 141, (1990).
- [38] H. Kunz, Quantized currents and topological invariants for electrons in incommensurate potentials, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57, 1095-1097, (1986), and Comm. Math. Phys., 112, 121 (1987).
- [39] A. Martinez, Precise exponential estimates in adiabatic theory, J. Math. Phys. 35, 3889-3915, (1994).
- [40] A. Moroz, Single particle density of states for the Aharonov-Bohm potential and the instability of matter, IPNO preprint
- [41] G. Nenciu, Linear Adiabatic theory: Exponential estimates, Comm. Math. Phys. 152, 479-496 (1993).

- [42] Q. Niu, Towards a quantum pump for electric charge, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 1812 (1990).
- [43] Q. Niu and D. J. Thouless, Quantized adiabatic charge transport in the presence of substrate disorder and many body interactions, J. Phys. A 36, 1911, (1983).
- [44] Q. Niu and D.J. Thouless, Quantum Hall effect with realistic boundary conditions, Phys. Rev. B 35, 2188-2197, (1987).
- [45] S.P. Novikov, Magnetic Bloch functions and vector bundles, Typical dispersion laws and their quantum numbers, Sov. Math. Dokl. 23, 298-303, (1981).
- [46] A. Pnueli, Scattering matrices and the conductances of leaky tori, Ann. Phys. 231, 56-83, (1994).
- [47] R.E. Prange and S.M. Girvin, *The Quantum Hall Effect*, Springer (1987).
- [48] J. Segert, Nonabelian Berry's phase, accidental degeneracy and angular momentum, J. Math. Phys. 28, 2101 (1987).
- [49] R. Seiler, On the quantum Hall effect, in Recent developments in Quantum Mechanics, A. Boutet loop Monvel et. al. Eds., Kluwer, Netherland, (1991).
- [50] B. Simon, Holonomy, the quantum adiabatic theorem and Berry's phase, Phys. Rev. Lett. 51 2167-2170 (1983).
- [51] M. Stone, The Quantum Hall effect, World Scientific, (1992).
- [52] Y. Tan Localization and quantum Hall effect in two dimensional periodic potential, J. Phys. C, 6, 7941-7954, (1994).
- [53] A. Terras, Harmonic Analysis on Symmetric Spaces, Springer, (1985).
- [54] D. J. Thouless, Quantization of particle transport, Phys. Rev. B 27, 6083 (1983).
- [55] D.J. Thouless, Topological interpretation of quantum Hall conductance, J. Math. Phys. 35, 1-11, (1994).
- [56] D. J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, P. Nightingale and M. den Nijs, *Quantum Hall conductance in a two dimensional periodic potential*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **49**, 40, (1982).
- [57] Colin loop Verdière, private communication through R. Seiler.
- [58] J. Zak, Magnetic translation group, Phys. Rev., 134, A1602–1607, (1964) and Magnetic translation group II: Irreducible representations, 1607–16011, (1964); and in Solid State Physics 27, F. Seitz, D. Turnbull and H. Ehrenreich, 59, Academic Press, (1972).